### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

WEST SUSNET 2050 TRUST, Appellant,

Case No. 70754

Electronically Filed Apr 06 2017 08:12 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

vs.

NEW FREEDOM MORTGAGE CORPORATION; BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.; NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC, Respondent.

#### APPEAL

from an order in favor of Respondent entered by the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada The Honorable Valerie Adair, District Court Judge District Court Case No. A-13-691323-C

### **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
LEGAL ARGUMENT
II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO CONSIDER THAT APPELLANT WAS A BONA FIDE PURCHASER FOR VALUE AT THE HOA FORECLOSURE SALE
III. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACTS THAT REMAINED AS TO WHETHER NOTICE OF THE HOA FORECLOSURE SALE WAS PROPERLY PROVIDED AND WHETHER THE DEED IN LIEU OF FORECLOSURE WAS A FALSE RECORDING
A. The District Court Erred in Finding That The Notices Regarding The Foreclosure Sale Were Improper
B. The District Court Erred In Finding That The Deed In Lieu Of Foreclosure Was A False Recording
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE PURSUANT TO NRAP 28.2
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# Cases

Shadow Wood Homeowners Ass'n, Inc., et al. v. N.Y. Cmty. Bancorp, Inc., 132 Nev.
Adv. Op. 5 (2016)
Wood v. Safeway, 121 Nev. 724, 121 P.3d 1026 (2005)10
Villescas v. CAN ins. Companies, 109 Nev. 1075, 864 P.2d 288 (1993)10
Lehrer McGovern Bovis, Inc. v. Bullock Insulation, Inc., 124 Nev. 1102, 197 P.3d
1032 (2008)
Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 106 S. Ct. 2548 (1986)10
Allstate Ins. Co. v. Fackett, 125 Nev. 132, 206 P.3d 572 (2009)11
Yeager v. Harrah's Club, Inc., 111 Nev. 830, 897 P.2d 1093 (1995)11
Valley Bank of Nevada v. Marbel, 105 Nev. 366, 775 P.2d 1278 (1989)11
Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 106 S.Ct. 2505 (1986)11
Hewitt v. Glaser Land & Livestock Co., 97 Nev. 207, 626 P.2d 268 (1981)12
Buhecker v. R.B. Petersen & Sons Const. Co., 112 Nev. 1498, 929 P.2d 937 (1996)
Bailey v. Butner, 64 Nev. 1 (1947)
SFR Investments Pool 1 v. U.S. Bank, 130 Nev, 334 P.3d 408 (2014) reh'g
denied (Oct. 16, 2014)

NRAP 32

### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from an order granting defendant/respondent Bank of America, N.A.'s ("BANA") countermotion for summary judgment pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. P. 56(b), which was entered on February 8, 2016 J.A. 0809-0812, and noticed on February 16, 2016 ("the Order"). J.A. 0813-0820.<sup>1</sup> West Sunset filed a motion for reconsideration of the court's February 16, 2016 order. J.A. 0909-0910. The motion for reconsideration was denied by the court. J.A. 0911-0916. Notice of the order denying reconsideration was filed on June 3, 2016. J.A. 0911-0916. The district court certified the Order as a final judgment on November 10, 2016 pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. P. 54(b). J.A. 1010-1014. West Sunset previously filed its notice of appeal on July 1, 2016 J.A. 0917-0935; however, "the notice of appeal shall be considered filed on the date of and after entry of the order, judgment or written disposition of the last-remaining timely motion." NRAP 4(a)(6). The Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1).

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

Pursuant to NRAP 28(a)(5), Appellant states that this case raises as principal issues a question of statewide public importance, as the principal issue raised on appeal is whether or not a deed of trust is a property interest that would allow its beneficiary to maintain or defend against a quiet title action to determine the priority

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Joint Appendix ("J.A.").

and enforceability of its lien following a homeowner's association foreclosure sale pursuant to NRS Chapter 116 and whether the buyer at the association foreclosure sale is a bona fide purchaser for value.

#### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Whether the district court erred by failing to consider West Sunset's status as a bona fide purchaser for value at the HOA foreclosure sale.

2. Whether the district court erred by finding that no genuine issues of material fact remained as to whether notice of the HOA foreclosure sale was properly provided and whether the deed in lieu of foreclosure was a false recording.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Plaintiff initiated the above-captioned lawsuit on November 6, 2013 in order to quiet title against the adverse interests in the Property of Defendants New Freedom, BANA, Nationstar, Cooper Castle, and Stephanie Tablante, and for injunctive relief preventing Defendants from continuing foreclosure proceedings on the Property. J.A. 0001-0007. On February 4, 2014, this Court dismissed Cooper Castle as a party. J.A. 0029-0032.

On December 19, 2013, BANA filed its Answer. J.A. 0012-0019. On May 20, 2014, Nationstar filed its Answer and Counterclaim against Plaintiff, and its Cross-Claim against Stephanie Tablante. J.A. 0033-0042. Plaintiff filed its Answer to Nationstar's Counterclaim on June 18, 2014. J.A. 0043-0053.

On May 22, 2015, Plaintiff filed its Motion for Summary Judgment, arguing that the Deed in Lieu of Foreclosure that was recorded on the Property, and which went uncontested by New Freedom, extinguished any interest Nationstar or BANA had in the Property, that the Association's foreclosure sale extinguished New Freedom's interest in the Property, and that regardless of whether or not the Deed in Lieu of Foreclosure was properly recorded, Plaintiff was a bona fide purchaser at the Association's foreclosure sale and now holds valid title to the Property. J.A. 0302-0477.

On June 10, 2015, Defendants Nationstar and BANA filed their Opposition and Countermotion to the Motion for Summary Judgment, arguing that Nationstar was never provided notice of the Association's foreclosure of the Property, that Appellant split the payment rights from the security interest and satisfied the superpriority portion of the HOA's lien, that Nationstar was denied its due process rights, and that the sale was commercially unreasonable. J.A. 0600-0737.

On June 18, 2015, Plaintiff filed its Reply in support of the Motion for Summary Judgment, and Opposition to Defendants' Countermotion for Summary Judgment, arguing that Defendants had **not** previously disclose many of their exhibits submitted in support of their Opposition and Countermotion, that the recordation of the Deed in Lieu of Foreclosure satisfied the underlying debt and extinguished the Deed of Trust on the Property, that Defendants have no evidence the Deed in Lieu was fraudulent, and that Plaintiff's title is protected under the bona fide purchaser doctrine. J.A. 0738-0759.

Following the hearing on the matter, the Court denied Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment, and granted Defendants' countermotion for summary judgment. The Order was entered on February 8, 2016, J.A. 0809-0812, and notice of entry of order was entered on February 16, 2016. J.A. 0813-0820.

On March 4, 2016 Appellants filed a motion for reconsideration of the district court's order granting Respondents' countermotion for summary judgment arguing that the district court erred in its analysis of the deed in lieu of foreclosure and its analysis of Appellant's bona fide purchaser status. J.A. 0821-0890. On March 22, 2016 Respondents filed an opposition to the motion for reconsideration claiming that Respondents did not receive statutory notice of the HOA foreclosure sale and that Appellant was not a bona fide purchaser. J.A. 0891-0898. On March 28, 2016 Appellant filed its reply to the motion for reconsideration. J.A. 0899-0908.

Following a hearing on the matter, the Court denied Plaintiff's motion for reconsideration. J.A. 0909-0910. The notice of entry of order was entered on June 3, 2016. J.A. 0911-0916.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The property at issue in this case is commonly known as 7255 W. Sunset Road, Unit 2050, Las Vegas, NV 89113, and bears Assessor's Parcel Number 17603-510-102 (the "Property"). The Property is within a common-interest community governed by non-party Tuscano Homeowners Association (the "Association"), a common-interest community association created pursuant to NRS Chapter 116. J.A. 0002-0003.

Stephanie Tablante purchased the Property on or about December 2, 2005. J.A. 0036. Ms. Tablante borrowed money from New Freedom Mortgage Corporation ("New Freedom"), in the amount of \$176,760.00. J.A. 0036. A deed of trust securing the loan was recorded on December 7, 2005, in the Official Records of the Clark County Recorder as Instrument Number 20051207-0002367 (the "Deed of Trust"). J.A. 0376-0394. The Deed of Trust listed Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. ("MERS"), as the beneficiary. J.A. 0377.

Five years later, on or about March 1, 2011, the Property records show that Ms. Tablante transferred the Property to New Freedom in "full satisfaction of all obligations secured by the Deed of Trust," by executing a Deed in Lieu of Foreclosure ("Deed in Lieu"). J.A. 0396-0400. A few months later, the Deed in Lieu was corrected to include the legal description of the Property and was rerecorded on June 21, 2011. J.A. 0402-0407. A letter from the Clark County Assessor's Office dated March 18, 2011, shows that New Freedom was notified of the recording of the Deed in Lieu and provided with a copy of the document. J.A. 0630-0632.

New Freedom—as the owner of record following the Deed in Lieu—failed to pay the Property's HOA dues, and the Association through its agent recorded a Lien for Delinquent Assessments on April 4, 2012. J.A. 0409. More than thirty (30) days later, on May 29, 2012, the Association recorded a Notice of Default and Election to Sell Pursuant to the Lien for Delinquent Assessments. J.A. 0411. More than ninety (90) days following the recording of the Notice of Default and Election to Sell Under Homeowners Association Lien, May 29, 2013, the Association recorded a Notice of Foreclosure Sale Under the Lien for Delinquent Assessments, setting the foreclosure sale for June 22, 2013. J.A. 0413. On that day, the Association sold the Property at public auction to Appellant. J.A. 0044-0046.

A Foreclosure Deed Upon Sale was properly recorded on June 24, 2013. J.A. 0044-0046. The Foreclosure Deed recited, in part, that the sale complied with all requirements of law including proper notice. J.A. 0044-0046.

This conveyance is made pursuant to the powers conferred upon Agent by NRS Chapter 116, the foreclosing Association's governing documents (CC&R's), and the notice of the Lien for Delinquent Assessments, recorded on April 4, 2012 as instrument 201204040001017 in the Official Records of the Recorder of Clark County, Nevada. J.A. 0411. Default occurred as set forth in the Notice of Default and Election to Sell, recorded on May 29, 2012 as instrument 201205290001690 in the Official Records of the Records of Clark County, Nevada. J.A. 0413. All

requirements of law have been complied with, including, but not limited to, the elapsing of the 90 days, the mailing of copies of the notice of Lien of Delinquent Assessment, and Notice of Default, and the mailing, posting, and publication of the Notice of Foreclosure Sale. J.A. 0044-0046. The HOA agent, in compliance with the Notice of Foreclosure Sale and in exercise of its power under NRS § 116.31164, sold the property at public auction on June 22, 2013. *Id.* J.A. 0044-0046. Robert Atkinson, the attorney responsible for conducting the foreclosure auction, testified that his firm had mailed notice of the Foreclosure Sale to New Freedom, BANA, Nationstar, and Cooper Castle; and he provided documentation of certified mailing in his deposition. J.A. 0077.

Meanwhile, notwithstanding the fact that all obligations secured by the Deed of Trust had been satisfied and the Deed of Trust consequently extinguished, on or about July 29, 2011, MERS purportedly assigned the Deed of Trust to BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP FKA Countrywide Home Loans Servicing LP ("BANA"). J.A. 0457-0458. BANA substituted The Cooper Castle Law Firm, LLP ("Cooper Castle"), as the Trustee, J.A. 0460, and then on March 20, 2013, BANA purportedly assigned the deed of trust to Nationstar. J.A. 0462-0463. At the time of the assignment to Nationstar, Nationstar was on record notice of the Deed in Lieu of Foreclosure, as well as the Association's pending foreclosure sale.

On September 18, 2013, Cooper Castle, as Trustee of the Deed of Trust,

instituted foreclosure proceedings by filing a Notice of Breach and Default and of Election to Cause Sale of Real Property Under Deed of Trust. J.A. 0467-0469.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

One of the main issues before the district court was whether the Deed in Lieu was fraudulently recorded, and if so, whether Appellant as a subsequent bona fide purchaser at the HOA Foreclosure Sale is entitled to have its interest in the Property protected. First, the district court incorrectly concluded that Nationstar was a legitimate holder of the First Deed of Trust and did not receive notice of the HOA delinquency. J.A. 0819. Second, the district court found that the rogue filing of a Deed in Lieu of Foreclosure to Defendant New Freedom Mortgage Co. ("New Freedom") did not divest Nationstar of its interest in the property, meaning Appellant purchased the property subject to the First Deed of Trust even though Appellant was a bona fide purchaser. J.A. 0819. Due to the fact there was a change in controlling law when the Nevada Supreme Court entered its decision in *Shadow* Wood Homeowners Ass'n, Inc., et al. v. N.Y. Cmty. Bancorp, Inc., 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 5 (2016) ("Shadow Wood"), which settles that a third party purchaser who qualifies as bona fide is protected from any latent interest of which he had no notice, the district court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Respondent.

Respondents Nationstar Mortgage LLC ("Nationstar") and Bank of America, N.A. ("BANA") (collectively "Respondents") convinced the district court that the

Deed in Lieu to New Freedom Mortgage Corporation ("New Freedom") was a "rogue document" not accepted by New Freedom – despite the fact the evidence showed that New Freedom was provided notice of the recording of the Deed in Lieu, was provided with a copy of the Deed in Lieu, and still took no action. J.A. 0630-0632. Respondents convinced the district court that they did not receive statutorily required notices, but the Nevada Supreme Court's decision in *Shadow Wood Homeowners Ass'n, Inc., et al. v. N.Y. Cmty. Bancorp, Inc.*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 5 (2016) ("*Shadow Wood*") definitively reaffirmed that the recitals in an Association's deed are "conclusive" as to default, notice, and publication of the Notice of Sale. Thus Respondents cannot argue that the district court's decision was correct merely because they alleged they did not receive the statutory notices of the HOA sale, when in fact, they did.

Respondents also convinced the district court that Appellant failed to present evidence that Appellant was a bona fide purchaser, but the recorded documents for the Property themselves serve as evidence that Appellant purchased the Property in good faith for valuable consideration and could not have possibly known of any defects in the HOA sale. This alone should merit this court to remand this matter back to the district court, reversing the district court's order granting summary judgment in favor of Respondents.

Finally, Respondents distorts the Shadow Wood decision by claiming that "the

*Shadow Wood* Court explained that inadequate price alone can be sufficient to set aside an HOA foreclosure sale if the price is 'grossly inadequate,'" when in fact the *Shadow Wood* decision indicates no such thing. *Shadow Wood* specifically states that a sale may be set aside "upon a showing of grossly inadequate **plus** 'fraud, unfairness, or oppression'" and Respondents did not dispute that Appellant was neither involved in nor aware of any fraud, unfairness, or oppression surrounding the HOA foreclosure sale in June of 2013. *Id.* at 9-10 (emphasis added).

#### **LEGAL ARGUMENT**

### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews de novo an order granting summary judgment, without deference to the findings of the lower court. *Wood v. Safeway*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d at 1029 (2005). All evidence favorable to the party against whom summary judgment was entered must be accepted as true on appeal. *Villescas v. CAN Ins. Companies*, 109 Nev. 1075, 1078, 864 P.2d 288, 290 (1993). Furthermore, a district court's statutory interpretation is also reviewed de novo. *Lehrer McGovern Bovis, Inc. v. Bullock Insulation, Inc.*, 124 Nev. 1102, 1115, 197 P. 3d 1032, 1041 (2008).

A motion for summary judgment may only be granted upon the showing "that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Nev. R. Civ. P. 56(c). The party seeking summary judgment always bears the initial burden of persuasion to the court. *See Celotex*  *Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 330-31, 106 S. Ct. 2548, 2556-57, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265 (1986). The moving party must identify those parts of the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with affidavits, if any, which it believes demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. *See id.* The evidence presented, as well as reasonable inferences drawn from the evidence, must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *See Allstate Ins. Co. v. Fackett*, 125 Nev. 132, 137, 206 P.3d 572, 575 (2009).

"[C]onclusory statements along with general allegations do not create an issue of fact." *Yeager v. Harrah's Club, Inc.*, 111 Nev. 830, 833, 897 P.2d 1093, 1095 (1995). Rather, "[a] genuine issue of material fact exists where the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving party." *Valley Bank of Nevada v. Marble*, 105 Nev. 366, 367, 775 P.2d 1278, 1279 (1989) (citing *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242, 106 S.Ct. 2505, 91 L.Ed.2d 202 (1986)).

### II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO CONSIDER THAT APPELLANT WAS A BONA FIDE PURCHASER FOR VALUE AT THE HOA FORECLOSURE SALE

Despite Appellant's briefing of the issue in the summary judgment pleadings and for the motion for reconsideration, the district court's order failed to properly address Appellant's status as a bona fide purchaser and the rights that accompany that status. J.A. 0813-0820. NRS 111.180(1) defines a bona fide purchaser as a purchaser who "purchases an . . . interest in any real property in good faith and for valuable consideration and who does not have actual knowledge, constructive notice of, or reasonable cause to know that there exists a defect in, or adverse rights, title or interest to, the real property." *See also Hewitt v. Glaser Land & Livestock Co.*, 97 Nev. 207, 208, 626 P.2d 268, 269 (1981) (holding that a bona fide purchaser is someone who purchases a property without notice of outstanding equities).

What cannot be disputed is that Appellant purchased the Property at the HOA foreclosure sale without any notice or reasonable cause to suspect any defect in New Freedom's title as record owner, and Respondents provided no evidence to the district court to dispute this contention. Even if the Deed in Lieu is somehow invalid, that dispute is immaterial as Appellant was a bona fide purchaser for value at the Association's foreclosure sale, and its title should not have been attacked. *See Buhecker v. R.B. Petersen & Sons Const. Co.*, 112 Nev. 1498, 1501, 929 P.2d 937, 939 (1996) ("[W]e conclude that it would be unfair to impute to [the bona fide encumbrancer] constructive notice of the fraud.").

If the significance of a bona fide purchaser's status was ever in doubt in the lower courts, the Nevada Supreme Court's decision in *Shadow Wood Homeowners Ass'n, Inc., et al. v. N.Y. Cmty. Bancorp, Inc.,* 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 5 (2016) (*"Shadow Wood"*), which affirmatively settles that a third party purchaser who qualifies as bona fide is protected from any latent interest of which he had no notice, cleared up

any uncertainty or ambiguity. "A subsequent purchaser is bona fide under commonlaw principles if it takes property 'for a valuable consideration and without notice of prior equity, and without notice of facts which upon diligent inquiry would be indicated and from which notice would be imputed to him, if he failed to make such inquiry." *Shadow Wood* at 22 (quoting *Bailey v. Butner*, 64 Nev. 1, 19 (1947)).

Moreover, if there were any question as to Appellant's ability to rely on the recitals set forth in the Association's foreclosure deed, which stated that that the sale complied with all requirements of law including proper notice, *Shadow Wood* also effectively confirmed the Nevada Supreme Court's previous holding in *SFR Investments Pool 1 v. U.S. Bank*, 130 Nev. \_\_\_\_, 334 P.3d 408 (2014), *reh'g denied* (Oct. 16, 2014) ("*SFR Investments*"), which stated that the foreclosure deed's recitals are conclusive as to notice.

The Nevada Supreme Court held in *SFR Investments* that a foreclosure deed "reciting compliance with notice provisions of NRS 116.31162 through NRS 116.31168 'is conclusive' as to the recitals 'against the unit's former owner, his or her heirs and assigns and all other persons." *SFR Investments*, 334 P.3d at 411-412 (citing NRS 116.31166(2)). Thus, a purchaser at an HOA foreclosure sale may rely on specific recitals in the foreclosure deed as "conclusive proof of the matters recited" as follows: "(a) Default, the mailing of the notice of delinquent assessment, and the recording of the notice of default and election to sell; (b) The elapsing of the

90 days; and (c) The giving of notice of sale." NRS 116.31166(1).

This ruling was reaffirmed in *Shadow Wood*, wherein the Nevada Supreme Court, quoting *Bourne Valley Court Trust v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, 80 F. Supp. 3d 1131, 1135 (D. Nev. 2015), stated that "under NRS 116.31166, when a foreclosure deed recited that there was a default, the proper notices were given, the appropriate amount of time elapsed between notice of default and sale, and the notice of sale was given, it was 'conclusive proof' that the required statutory notices were provided." *Shadow Wood* at 10. While the *Shadow Wood* court declined to extend NRS 116.31166 as "conclusively establishing a default," the court did not take issue with the recitals pertaining to notice. *Id.* Thus, Appellant had a right to rely on the recitals contained in the foreclosure deed that the sale was properly noticed and Respondents provided no evidence to the district court indicating Appellant had any notice that the Association's foreclosure sale was in any way improper.

In reality, Appellant was on notice of three things: (i) that the Association was foreclosing on a lien which included assessments accruing prior to its enforcement; (ii) that foreclosure of such a lien extinguished any other lien on the property, including a first deed of trust; and (iii) that no recorded document indicated any dispute, defect, or challenge to the Foreclosure Sale. As such, Appellant justifiably inferred that the sale was proper and purchased the Property without notice or cause to believe that anyone still claimed an adverse interest in the Property.

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