IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

WEST SUNSET 2050 TRUST,

Appellant,

vs.

NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE LLC, A Foreign Limited Liability Company Case No. 70754

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Jun 22 2017 09:18 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Department XXIV The Honorable Valerie Adair, District Judge District Court Case No. A-13-691323-C

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

AKERMAN LLP

ARIEL E. STERN Nevada Bar No. 8276 THERA A. COOPER, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 13468 1160 Town Center Drive, Suite 330 Las Vegas, Nevada 89144 Telephone: (702) 634-5000

Attorneys for Respondent Nationstar Mortgage LLC

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

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

ARGUMENT

A. There was no Lien to Foreclose Due to the Factoring Agreement

1. The HOA's Lien Was Unenforceable Under *Edelstein*.

Factoring is defined as the sale of accounts receivable at a discounted price. 35 C.J.S. Factors § 1 (2009). This particular Factoring Agreement was a true sale of the HOA's accounts receivable because First 100 expressly assumed the risk of non-collection and First 100 had no recourse against HOA if the unit owner, the borrower, did not pay. *See Major's Furniture Mart, Inc. v. Castle Credit Corp.*, 602 F.2d 538, 544-45 (3d Cir. 1979). First 100 may have entered into a valid factoring agreement, but its agreement violates Nevada's rules on lien splitting announced in *Edelstein v. Bank of New York Mellon*, 286 P.3d 249, 258 (Nev. 2012).

In *Edelstein*, Nevada's Supreme Court held that a lender's initial designation of MERS as a beneficiary in the deed of trust split the deed of trust from the payment right promised in the note. 286 P.3d at 259. The court went on to hold, even though the note and deed of trust were split at loan's inception, they could be reunited through negotiation or assignment. 286 P.3d at 260-261. The court in *Edelstein* then stated "both the promissory note and the deed must be held together to foreclose; '[t]he [general] practical effect of [severance] is to make it impossible to foreclose the mortgage."' 286 P.3d at 258. *Edelstein* is relevant here. A deed of trust is merely a lien on property just like the statutory HOA lien created by NRS 116.3116(1).

A lien has no separate existence from the debt it secures. 51 Am.Jur.2d, Liens § 1. First 100 and the HOA under the Factoring Agreement intentionally split the borrower's assessment debt from the lien securing that debt. The lien itself remained the property of the HOA, and was never assigned. The foreclosure was completed by the HOA. But, the HOA lacked standing to foreclose because it no longer possessed the payment rights under the lien at the time of the sale. The foreclosure sale was void under *Edelstein*.

2. The Factoring Agreement Violates NRS 116.3102(p) and CC&Rs

NRS 116 delineates the powers of a homeowners association. *See* NRS 116.3102. There is one provision dealing with the sale of the right to collect assessments. A homeowners association may "assign its right to future income, including the right to receive assessments for common expenses, but only to the extent the declaration expressly so provides." NRS 116.3102(p). This means that a homeowners association's power to enter into a factoring agreement is dependent upon *express authorization* from the homeowners association's CC&Rs.

This HOA's CC&Rs do not grant the HOA that power. Sunset West concedes the point and cannot point to any provision (express or implied) addressing contractual authority to enter into Factoring Agreement. While the CC&Rs provide for the right to charge assessments when they are due, parties' right to receive notice of a delinquency, and the powers of the association to foreclose (*see generally* JA483 *et seq.*), there is no provision that would permit the HOA to enter a purchase and sale agreement, in violation of *Edelstein*, to sell its accounts receivable pertaining to overdue assessments.

B. The Notice was Defective

It is undisputed that the holder of the duly-recorded senior deed of trust— BANA—was not notified of the HOA's foreclosure sale. The district court properly found that BANA should have been notified, and this failure of notice

invalidated the sale. (JA809). Sunset West argues that the sale can be upheld as the notice was proper given the recorded deed in lieu. (AOB 16-17). But these arguments do not withstand even the slightest level of scrutiny.

The deed in lieu that RRFS relied upon in the foreclosure process was fraudulent, as the district court properly found pursuant to the record evidence. It did not affect BANA's entitlement to notice as holder of the recorded deed of trust, and RRFS's reliance was improper as the deed was not delivered to New Freedom—a non-existent entity at the time. The deed was also unsigned by New Freedom or BANA, meaning that the purported "deed in lieu" transaction the instrument sought to reflect was unenforceable on its face. *See* NRS § 111.220 (providing that contracts affecting an interest in land are void unless reduced to writing and signed by the person to be charged); *accord Wiley v. Cook*, 583 P.2d 1076, 94 Nev. 558, 564 (Nev. 1978).

The importance of the lack of notice cannot be overstated. It is tantamount to a due process violation, as BANA had a fundamental right to be notified of the HOA's foreclosure and given an opportunity to preserve the validity of its lien. See *Consolidated Edison Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 447 U.S. 530, 100 S. Ct. 2326, 65 L.Ed. 2d 319 (1980); *Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co.*, 339 U.S. 306, 313, 70 S.Ct. 652, 94 L.Ed. 865 (1950). As the district court properly found, BANA was deprived of this opportunity, which rendered the purported sale facially invalid. (JA811-12). The HOA foreclosure sale did not affect the deed of trust.

C. Gross Inadequacy of Price Invalidated the HOA's Sale.

While not raised in the Opening Brief, Nationstar argued in the district court that even if the sale could stand on its face (and it cannot) the incredible discrepancy between the sale price and the property value invalidated the sale because it was commercially unreasonable. (JA600; 891). This position represents the modern view of the law espoused by the Restatement (Third) of Property, § 8.3 (1997), which this Court applied in *Shadow Wood Homeowners Ass'n v. N.Y. Cmty. Bancorp*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 366 P.3d 1105 (2016).

The Restatement approach allows a court to grant relief from foreclosure if the price paid by the purchaser is grossly inadequate. While "gross inadequacy" is not precisely definable, the Restatement provides that generally, "a court is warranted in invalidating a sale where the price is less than 20 percent of fair market value, and, absent other defects, is usually not warranted in invalidating a sale that yields in excess of that amount." *Id.* The Restatement was favorably cited in *Shadow Wood*, and its analysis compels affirmance due to the gross inadequacy of the sales price paid by Sunset West.

Current Nevada law espouses the "price-plus" test set forth in Golden v. Tomiyasu, 79 Nev. 503, 387 P.2d 989 (1963), and Long v. Towne, 98 Nev. 11, 639

P.2d 528 (1982). But this case and others demonstrate the infirmities in that jurisprudence. Rigid application of the "price-plus" rule might lend judicial approval to the inequitable windfall pursued by Sunset West—ignoring the circumstances and radically low sales price they paid. The Restatement approach, on the other hand, provides the flexibility to invalidate extremely inequitable sales like this one, while simultaneously preserving the traditional rule immunizing the vast majority of foreclosure sales from low price challenges. *See* Restatement (Third of Prop.: Mortgages § 8.3, cmt. b ("[O]nly rarely will a court be justified in invalidating a foreclosure sale based on substantial price disparity alone.").

The Arizona Supreme Court's opinion in *In re Krohn*, 203 Ariz. 205, 52 P.3d 774 (2002) illustrates the wisdom of the Restatement approach in practice. The *Krohn* court faced a similar fact pattern, and sought to harmonize case law espousing the "price-plus" rule with the Restatement approach. The court concluded that the Restatement approach is substantively the same. "We believe **gross** inadequacy **is** proof of unfairness, and as we have seen, gross inadequacy, as defined in [the Restatement] is more than inadequacy." *Krohn*, 52 P.3d at 781 (emphasis in original). As the court explained, "At its core, this is a case about inequity on one hand and unjust enrichment on the other." *Id.* at 782.

The same conflict lies at the core of this case—inequity on one hand (an attempt to strip Nationstar of a deed of trust securing a six-figure loan that enjoys

priority over the HOA lien) and unjust enrichment on the other (seeking free and clear title to a property where Sunset West paid just 12% of its value). Approving the sale with strict application of the price-plus rule would not properly resolve this case. "Windfall profits, like those reaped by bidders paying grossly inadequate prices at foreclosure sales, do not serve the public interest and do no more than legally enrich speculators" like Sunset West. *Krohn*, 52 P.3d at 779.

The Restatement avoids an inequitable outcome here by allowing the sale to be set aside for the additional reason that the sale was fundamentally unfair. While the district court was not required to consider the gross inadequacy of the sales price (the Factoring Agreement, fraudulent deed, and the lack of notice invalidated the sale with nothing further) the principles outlined in this section lend further support to the district court's judgment.

D. Sunset West is not a *Bona Fide* Purchaser for Value

In an effort to avoid the effects of the invalid sale, Sunset West's primary appellate argument claims it was an innocent *bona fide* purchaser, entitled to rely on the foreclosure deed recitals, however deficient they may be. (AOB 11-16). The district court properly rejected this argument, and the judgment should be affirmed before this Court.

First, because the sale was void, nor voidable, under *Edelstein*, Sunset West's status as a bona fide purchaser is irrelevant because HOA could not transfer

any valid title. See Alamo Rent-a Car, Inc. v. Mendenhall, 937 P.2d 69, 74 (1997); see also Cox v. Eight Judicial Dist. Court of State, 124 Nev. 918, 2008 WL 4453167 (2008).

Second, Sunset West never pled that it was a *bona fide* purchaser in its answer to the counterclaim. (JA043). Nor did it present any evidence that it was a bona fide purchaser for value. This was insufficient as a matter of law. The bona fide purchaser doctrine is an affirmative defense, and so the party claiming the defense—in this case, Sunset West—bears the burden of proof. *W. Charleston Lofts I, LLC v. R & O Const. Co.*, 915 F. Supp. 2d 1191, 1195 (D. Nev. 2013) (citing *Berge v. Fredericks*, 591 P.2d 246, 247-48 (Nev. 1979)).

Regardless, the undisputed facts reflect that Sunset West is not an innocent purchaser—they had (at minimum) constructive notice of the competing deed of trust. *See Tai-Si Kim v. Kearney*, 838 F. Supp. 2d 1077, 1086-88 (D. Nev. 2012) (purpose of Nevada's recording statute is providing constructive notice of all recorded instruments to any subsequent purchaser or mortgagee). A party qualifies as a *bona fide* purchaser only if it lacked notice of any "competing or superior interest in the same property." *Berge*, 591 P.2d at 247. Here, the recorded deed of trust was, at the very least, a "competing" interest.¹ This Court recently confirmed

¹ Whether Sunset West had actual knowledge or notice of the recorded documents is irrelevant. Sunset West was on record notice, and as the purchaser of real estate following an HOA sale, had ample reason to investigate before

that notice of a deed of trust is sufficient to defeat bona fide purchaser status. *Telegraph Rd. Trust v. Bank of Am., N.A.*, No. 67787, 2016 WL 5400134 (Nev. Sep. 16, 2016) (unpublished) (affirming district court decision that rejected the bona fide purchaser defense because the purchaser was on inquiry notice of a deed of trust). Further, the vast discrepancy between the stated debt in the notice of sale- \$7,806.42- and the opening bid- \$99- should have put Sunset West on notice that there was a material change in the status lien. (JA306-07 and 86).

Sunset West's argument that it was entitled to blindly rely on the foreclosure deed recitals (AOB 13-16)—ignoring all other circumstances—should be similarly rejected. The argument was put to rest by this Court in *Shadow Wood*.

In *Shadow Wood*, this Court made clear that the "conclusive" deed recitals found in HOA foreclosure deeds do not bar mortgagees or homeowners from challenging the validity of an HOA foreclosure sale. *Shadow Wood*, 336 P.3d at 1111. This Court noted that the deed recitals outlined in NRS 116.3116. even those concerning "default, notice, and publication of the" notice of sale, do <u>not</u> conclusively establish the matters recited. *Id.* ("[W]hile it is possible to read a conclusive recital statute like NRS 116.31166 as conclusively establishing a foreclosure when, in fact, no default occurred, such a reading

consummating the purchase transaction. *See Allen v. Webb*, 485 P.2d 677, 682 (Nev. 1971) ("[T]he mere fact of the record notice does not provide sufficient basis for holding the Allens to have had notice **unless they had reason to check the real estate records."**) (emphasis added).

would be breathtakingly broad and is probably legislatively unintended."). This Court thus rejected the Sunset West's argument that the conclusive recitals alone prevent invalidation of the foreclosure sale. *Id.* at 1112.

And, it bears repeating that in this case, the foreclosure deed recitals pertaining to notice were demonstrably false. As a matter of undisputed record fact, neither RRFS, or any other entity, provided notice in any form to either BANA or Nationstar. (JA679-80). Sunset West's *bona fide* purchaser arguments do not overcome the invalidity of the purported foreclosure sale.

CONCLUSION

For all of the above reasons, the district court should be affirmed.